IN THE SUPEME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 88,908

U.S. CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS, ELVENTH CIRCUIT CASE NO.: 95-5516

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.: 94-07254-CIV-SM

DAVID FORGIONE, AS ASSIGNEE OF HARRY TOFEL AND LENA TOFEL,

Preliminary Statement
Statement of the Case and Facts
Summary of the Argument
Argument and Citations of Authority , 5
THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXTENDING THE DEFINITION OF A "PERSONAL TORT" TO CLAIMS AGAINST INSURANCE AGENTS AND COMPANIES THEREBY PROHIBITING ASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS AGAINST THEM FOR NEGLIGENCE.
Conclusion
Certificate of Service 14

TABLEOFCITATIONS

Aaron v. Allstate Insurance Comnany, 559 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) 9, 10
<u>Conley v. Gibson</u> , 355 U.S. 41, 78 S.Ct. 99, L.Ed. 2d SO (1975)
Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. St, Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Comnany, 535 So. 2d 335 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990)
<u>Friedlander v. Nims, 755</u> F.2d 810 (1 lth Cir. 1985)
<u>Joos v. Drillock,</u> 338 N.W. 2d 736 (Mich Ct. App. 1983),,,,, S
McNulty v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, 221 So. 2d 208 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1969)
Notarian v. Plantation AMC Jeep, Inc., 567 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) 6
<u>Peterson v. Brown</u> , 457 N.W.2d 745 (Minn Ct. App. 1990) 8, 9
<u>Robertson v. Johnston.</u> 376 F.2d 43 (5th Cir. 1967)
Selfridge v. Allstate Insurance Comnany, 2 19 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969) 5, 10
Tiftarea Shopper Inc. v. Georgia Shopper, Inc., 786 F.2d 1115 (1 lth Cir. 1986 12
Washington v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Comnany, 459 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984)

PRELIMINARY _ STATEMENT

Whether the trial court erred in granting with prejudice Appellees' Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)onth e basis that a claim for negligence by an insured against an insurance agent, or other agent of an insurer, cannot validly be assigned to a third-party as damages claimed to have been occasioned by the negligence of an insurer or insurance agent is a personal tort, and therefore non-assignable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant is the Plaintiff below, and he has filed this cause of action against Appellees, Defendants below. Appellant brings this case as assignee of all rights and claims against Appellees that are available to Harry Tofel and Lena Tofel (the "Tofels") pursuant to an "Assignment of Interest in Claims and Legal Action." executed on August 25, 1994. R-1 -2-9. Appellant alleges that he was involved in an automobile accident on or about December 23, 1990, with a vehicle owned by the Tofels. R-1-2-3. Appellant obtained a final judgment against the Tofels in the amount of \$600,000.00, which led to the assignment of rights at issue in this case. R-1-2-11.

Appellant's Second Amended Complaint (R-1-32) alleges that an agent of Appellee, State Farm, sold a policy of automobile insurance to the Tofels, and that this policy was in force at the time of the accident with Appellant. Appellant alleges that the agent for State Farm breached its duty of care by failing to exercise reasonable skill and diligence to ensure that there would be no gap in the limit_of the base amount of coverage in the policy sold by State Farm and the minimum umbrella coverage that the Tofels obtained in a separate transaction with Appellee, Fireman's Fund.

Appellant alleges in the Second Amended Complaint that these

insurance companies, through the actions of their agents, failed to exercise reasonable skill and diligence to ensure that there existed no gap in coverage between the liability limits of the underlying insurance coverage and the minimum coverage of the umbrella policy. Appellant contends that, as a result of the negligence of these defendants, he has suffered damages equal to the gap in coverage between the liability limits of the underlying policy and the minimum coverage of the umbrella policy.

The trial court granted Appellee's Motion to Dismiss with prejudice, made pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) on October 31, 1995, (R-1-37) holding that, under Florida law, a claim alleging negligence in the procurement and placement of insurance coverage is a personal tort, and therefore cannot be validly assigned.

Appellant timely appealed this decision to the United States Circuit Court of Appeals, 1 lth Circuit, who certfied the question to this Honorable Court as a case of first impression. Tt is from this ruling that this appeal emanates and which was thereafter timely filed. (R-1-33)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred, and abused its discretion in granting Appellee's Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint with prejudice. It was error to conclude that an assignment to a third-party by a tortfeasor of its claim for negligence against the tortfeasor's insurance agent and insurer in the procurement of insurance coverage is invalid in Florida because it is a personal tort thereby precluding assignment. The trial court improperly extended the definition of a personal tort to include negligence actions against insurance companies or their agents.

Moreover, it was error, and a abuse of discretion, to dismiss the case with prejudice as the trial court tacitly acknowledged a possible claim by Appellant against Appellee arising out of a breach of contract, which clearly is an assignable right.

ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY

THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXTENDING THE DEFINITION OF A "PERSONAL TORT" TO CLAIMS AGAINST INSURANCE AGENTS AND COMPANIES THEREBY PROHIBITING ASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS AGAINST THEM FOR NEGLIGENCE.

The trial court erred, and abused its discretion in granting Appellee's Motion to Dismiss with prejudice. In determining that the assignment by the Tofels to Appellant of the right to sue for the damages which occurred due to the placement of insurance coverage with a "gap" was invalid under Florida law, the trial court applied a flawed logic, and overreached when attempting to apply existing legal theory to a perceived case of first impression.

PART ONE

CLAIMS AGAINST INSURANCE AGENTS ARE NOT PERSONAL TORTS AND THEREFORE ARE ASSIGNABLE TO THIRD-PARTIES

It is conceded that in Florida, purely personal tort claims cannot be validly assigned. Having retreated from the common law rule prohibiting assignments of causes of action, assignability of a cause became the rule rather then the exception. See, Selfridge v. Allstate Insurance Company. 2 19 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969). However, causes of action arising out of a "personal tort" are not assignable. See, e.g., McNulty v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Comnany, 22 1 So.

2d 208 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1969). For example, medical malpractice claims have been deemed to be too personal to be validly assigned. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company, 535 So, 2d 335 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). Claims for intentional infliction of emotion distress were considered to be personal torts, and thus, not assignable. Notarian v. Plantation AMC Jeep. Inc., 567 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

The concept of defining a "personal tort" was extended to legal malpractice actions in Florida, as in most other states. See, Washington v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 459 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). The trial court seized this body of law to support its extension of the concept of "personal torts" to that of the nature of a negligence claim against an insurance agent or insurer. It is this extension that Appellant feels is contrary to the essential requirements of law.

It is interesting to note that the <u>Washington</u> court emphasized, in extending the definition of a "personal tort" to a claim of legal malpractice in Florida, that it was doing so because of the "personal nature of legal services <u>which involve</u> highly <u>confidential relationships."</u> <u>Id.</u>, at 1149 (emphasis added). Clearly this is a significant distinguishable characteristic which contrasts the unique relationship between a client and lawyer, from an insurance agent and customer. While each is clearly employed to perform tasks for the person who has retained him or her, only

the lawyer has an obligation to keep disclosures confidential, and to otherwise adhere to the cannons of ethics which are not shared by insurance agents or insurance carriers. It is because of these standards which are applicable to attorneys uniquely, that there exists a strong public policy against permitting assignment of a legal malpractice claim. It would be unfair to expect an attorney to maintain such confidences when he or she could be sued by someone other than the client for the manner in which a legal matter was handled and yet, be restrained from disclosing client confidences regarding that matter.

It is submitted that there exists a separate, and equally compelling public policy rationale in disallowing assignments of claims for legal malpractice. This rationale is embodied in the well-reasoned decision of <u>Joos v. Drillock</u>, 338 N.W. 2d 736 (Mich Ct. App. 1983). In that case, a tortfeasor who received a judgment in excess of her policy limits assigned to plaintiff the right to sue the tortfeasor's lawyer for legal malpractice for the difference between the coverage afforded and the judgment attained, In <u>Joos</u>, that court acknowledged the unassignability of a legal malpractice claim. The rationale acknowledged that it would throw open the doors to havoc if the losing party in a lawsuit was permitted to assign to the victor the right to claim against the losing party's attorney for legal malpractice should the losing party prove uncollectible. This would open the floodgates to secondary litigation,

deleteriously affect the finality of any trial result, and undoubtedly have a chilling effect on a parties ability to secure counsel.

The rationale of the Joos court forms a sound basis for the refusal by the courts to allow assignment of legal malpractice claims. The basis for this rationale is also one which is unique to attorneys, and does not exist in the insurance agent/consumer relationship. Accordingly, the trial court's emphasis on Joos, as a basis to extend the definition of a personal tort prohibiting assignment of claims of negligence against insurance agents and their companies is grossly misplaced. Hardly analogous, the nature of the attorney/client relationship bears little resemblance to the relationship of the insurance agent and customer. Rather, the relationship between attorney and client is much closer in nature to that of a physician and patient, as purely personal and privileged matters are discussed and addressed, which cannot be revealed without permission. The differences between the nature of the relationships are so extensive, and significant that this Court should reject the trial court's invitation to extend this doctrine of personal tort to include such as claims as it is a position not well-founded.

A case which is far closer to being on point, and which should receive strong consideration by this Court in answering this question, is <u>Peterson v. Brown</u>, 457 N.W. 2d 745 (Minn. Ct. App. 1990). <u>Peterson</u>, appears to be the only case

directly on point regarding the assignability of a claim for negligence of an insurance agent. In that case, an employer assigned his claim against his insurance agent for failing to obtain proper insurance coverage to trustees of employees who were killed in an explosion at the employer's place of business. That court upheld the assignment of the cause of action against the insurance agent and the insurer as the "claimed violations [were] of a property right and not an injury to the person " Id., at 749. Thus, this Court determined that the negligent claim of an insured against his insurance agent and insurer for failure to procure proper coverage is **not** a "personal tort". The task, it was determined that such a claim concerned a property right, and can therefore be validly assigned. This Court should rule consistent with this decision.

There is much persuasive case law in Florida concerning assignability of claims against insurance companies based upon allegations of negligence. This body of law suggests that any negligence in the handling of a claim by an insurer is not a personal tort and can be assigned. See, Aaron v. Allstate Insurance Company, 559 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). In Aaron the tortfeasor assigned that portion of a j udgment which exceeded the policy limits afforded the tortfeasor to the Plaintiff, who filed a complaint against the insurer alleging breach of contract, bad faith, negligence and fraud. That court acknowledged that legal malpractice cannot be assigned to a third-party, but held that where a complaint alleged negligence "in

causing; the entry of the excess judgment," that such negligence was not a personal tort. Id., at 277 (emphasis added). Thus, it would seem that Florida's appellate courts have recognized that a claim by an insured against an insurer for negligence is not a personal tort. Additionally, and significantly, it is axiomatic in Florida that a tortfeasor may assign a claim for bad faith against his insurer to a prevailing plaintiff for the amount awarded in excess of the coverage. See. e.g., Selfridge v. Allstate, 2 19 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969).

It is submitted as wholly illogical and highly inconsistent to rule that a tortfeasor who has a judgment entered against him for a sum in excess of his policy limits cannot assign a claim against his insurance agent or insurer for failure to procure appropriate coverage while a tortfeasor who has a judgment rendered against him for a sum in excess of his policy limits may assign a claim against this insurer for failure to negotiate in good faith. Both claims arise out of a failure of the insurer to meet their duty of care in the processing of insurance for their customer.

It is equally illogical to hold that an insurance agent's task to procure appropriate coverage involves unique circumstances similar to that of an attorney representing a client. To the contrary, placing insurance is a relatively easy task

requiring only a cursory inquiry into the needs of an insured.' In stretching the doctrine of invalidity of assigning legal malpractice claims to include insurance agent/insurer negligence claims, the trial court incorrectly bridged two wholly inconsistent vocations, and improperly dismissed Appellant's claim.

I

PART TWO

The Second Amended Complaint Should Not Have Been Dismissed with Prejudice

Moreover, even if the trial court were correct in this dismissal, the court erred in dismissing the case with prejudice, when a potential claim by Appellant against Appellees for breach of contract may have been plead. A complaint may not be dismissed with prejudice where the plaintiffs claims do not support the legal theory he relies upon since the court must determine if the allegations provide for relief on any possible theory. Robertson v. Johnston, 376 F.2d 43 (5th Cir. 1967). Tf granted an opportunity to file a Third Amended Complaint, Appellant could have alleged a breach of contract action, which is a validly assignable right, absent an agreement to the contrary. A Motion to Dismiss made pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) should only be granted when it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff

^{1.} It is suggested that an insurance agent's task of ensuring that a person's primary insurance liability limits meet the bottom of the umbrella policy limits is so basic in nature that it would not require knowledge of the special "circumstances" of the insured to place such coverage.

v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46, 78 S.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed. 2d 80 (1975); Tiftarea Shopper. Inc. v. Georgia Shopper Inc.. 786 F.2d 1 115, 1117-1 8 (1 1th Cir. 1986)(quoting Conley). Additionally, liberality should be used in allowing amendments to pleadings. Friedlander v. Nims, 755 F.2d 810 (1 lth Cir. 1985). Thus, this Honorable Court must determine whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting the Motion to Dismiss with prejudice.

CONCLUSION

This Honorable Court should reverse the Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, and remand with directions to deny the Motion to Dismiss. Additionally, if this Honorable Court should find that the Motion to Dismiss was well-founded, then the case should be remanded with directions to modify the ruling to be a dismissal without prejudice to allow Appellant an opportunity to file a Third Amended Complaint.