0d7

IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA

DAVID FORGIONE, as Assignee
of HARRY TOFEL and LENA
TOFEL,

CASE NO.: 88,908
U.S. 11th CIR. CASE NO.: 95-5516
DC DKT. NO.: 94-07254 CIV-SM

Appellants,

vs.

DENNIS PIRTLE AGENCY, INC.,
STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE
INSURANCE COMPANY, an Illinois
corporation, HERMAN B. FINE,
CERRATO-FINE AGENCY, INC., a
New York corporation, AMERICAN
STATES INSURANCE COMPANY, an
Indiana corporation, FIREMAN'S FUND
INSURANCE COMPANY, a California
corporation,,

Appellees.

_____ /

FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 26 1996
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

**APPELLEE'S, FIREMAN'S FUND
INSURANCE COMPANY, ANSWER BRIEF**

McNARY and BEFERA, P.A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This action is the misbegotten offspring of an automobile accident which occurred December 23, 1990. The plaintiff and appellant in this case, DAVID FORGTONE (“FORGIONE”) collided with another vehicle owned by HARRY and LENA TOFEL (“the TOFELS”). (R 1-32-3)¹ FORGIONE obtained a consent judgment against the TOFELS worth \$600,000.00. Unable to completely satisfy the judgment because of a gap in the available insurance coverages, FORGTONE secured from the TOFEL’s an assignment to sue their insurance agents and insurance companies. (R 1-32-7, 8)

By the Second Amended Complaint, FORGTONE alleged the TOFELS held applicable insurance policies with Appellees, STATE FARM MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY (“STATE FARM”) and FIREMAN’S FUND INSURANCE COMPANY (“FIREMAN’S”) and that the agents for each failed to secure appropriate coverage for the TOFELS. (R 1-32-4,7) FORGIONE alleged the insurance agents, HERMAN B. FINE, CERRATO-FINE AGENCY, INC.,

¹ Record references are made in accordance with the United States Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals' procedure. The references are to volume number, document number, and page number.

and DENNIS PIRTLE AGENCY, INC. (“FINE, CERRATO, and PIRTLE,” respectively) permitted a gap in coverage to exist. FORGIONE claimed STATE FARM and FIREMAN’S were vicariously liable because their agents failed to exercise reasonable skill, care, and diligence in the placing of appropriate insurance for the TOFELS. (R 1-32-4,7,8) This liability was not based upon contract or statute.

The Federal District Court’s Order granting the Motion to Dismiss to all defendants stated the assignment was prohibited by Florida law. By its Order, the district court determined the relationship between an insurer, its agent and the prospective insured was similar to that between an attorney and client. Such relationships are of a personal nature. (R 1-30-13) Since the assignability of legal malpractice actions is prohibited due to their personal nature, so too was the TOFELS’s assignment to FORGIONE.

Additionally, FORGIONE seeks the opportunity to file a Third Amended Complaint based upon a breach of contract. In its Order, the district court did not acknowledge any possible claim by FORGIONE against STATE FARM OR FIREMAN’s arising from a breach of contract. Otherwise, the district court would not have dismissed FORGIONE’s Second Amended Complaint with

CASE NO.: 88,908
Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency, Inc., et al.

prejudice. Furthermore, this issue is not before this Court. Rather, the following certified question from the United States Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals is:

“Can a claim for negligence by an insured against an insurance agent for failure to obtain proper insurance coverage be assigned to a third party?”

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly granted the Motion to Dismiss FORGIONE's Second Amended Complaint with Prejudice on the basis that the alleged cause of action rested on an impermissible assignment of rights. The TOFELS's assignment to FORGIONE on their claim for negligence against their insurance agents and insurers regarding the procurement of insurance coverage was invalid. This was a pure negligence claim arising from a breach of trust and confidence between the TOFELS and their insurance agents, FINE, CERRATO-FINE, and PIRTLE. Due to the personal nature of the claim, the district court determined Florida law precluded its assignment.

FORGIONE's claims against FIREMAN'S and STATE FARM were based upon FIREMAN'S and STATE FARM's alleged vicarious liability for the negligence of the TOFELS's insurance agents, FINE, CERRATO, and PIRTLE. This liability was not based upon contract or statute. Due to the personal nature of the claim, the district court determined Florida law precluded its assignment; and it did not acknowledge any possible claim by FORGIONE against FIREMAN'S or STATE FARM arising from a breach of contract. Accordingly, the TOFELS's assignment to FORGIONE was invalid.

ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY

THAT THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT FLORIDA LAW PRECLUDES THE ASSIGNMENT OF AN INSURED'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM AGAINST AN INSURANCE AGENT.

I.

Florida law holds that the assignability of causes of action is the rule rather than the exception. Selfridge v. Allstate Insurance Co., 219 So.2d 127, 129 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969). However, Florida courts refuse the assignment of causes of action based on torts of a personal nature. McNulty v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 221 So.2d 208, 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), rev. denied 229 So.2d 585 (Fla. 1969). See also, Ginsberg v. Lennar Florida Holdings, Inc., 645 So.2d 490, 496 n. 4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (assuming that torts for conversion and theft occurred, such causes of action were personal to the assignor and therefore the assignee could not pursue those causes of action); Notarian v. Plantation AMC Jeep, Inc., 567 So.2d 1034, 1036 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (employee's wrongful discharge action not a tort claim and therefore assignable, but claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress was a personal injury claim and was not assignable); Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 535 So.2d 335 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1990) approved, 559 So.2d 195 (Fla. 1990) (holding that personal injury and malpractice claims are not assignable); and Washington v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co., 459 So.2d 1148 (Fla, 4th DCA 1984) (as a matter of public policy, the assignment of legal malpractice actions prohibited due to the personal nature of legal services).

In the instant case, the district court reasoned that the relationship between an insurer, agent, and prospective insured was similar to that between an attorney and client. Such relationships are of a personal nature. Consequently, just as the assignability of a legal malpractice action is prohibited, so too was the TOFELS's assignment to FORGIONE on any negligence claim against their insurers and agents for failing to obtain appropriate insurance coverage. In recognizing the similarity of the relationships, the trial court relied upon the Washington holding and the cases cited therein.

In Washington at 1149, the court noted that a majority of jurisdictions prohibited the assignment of legal malpractice claims due to the personal nature of legal services. Within its decision, the court cited Goodlev v. Wank & Wank, Inc., 62 Cal.App.3d 389, 133 Cal.Rptr.83 (1976). The Goodlev court reasoned that the assignment of legal malpractice actions was against public policy stating

in pertinent part:

The assignment of such claims could relegate the legal malpractice action to the market place and convert it to a commodity to be exploited and transferred to economic bidders who have never had a professional relationship with the attorney and to whom the attorney has never owed a legal duty, and who have never had any prior connection with the assignor or his rights... The almost certain end result of merchandizing [sic] such causes of action is the lucrative business of factoring malpractice claims which would encourage unjustified lawsuits against members of the legal profession...

62 Cal.App.3d 397-398, 133 Cal.Rptr. 83.

As acknowledged by the parties, the assignment of legal malpractice claims would open the door to havoc. The losing party in a lawsuit, in which collecting a judgment was difficult, could assign to the winning party the right to assert a claim against the losing party's attorney for legal malpractice. This reasoning is applicable to the instant case.

FORGIONE attempted to secure the assignment of the TOFELS's insurance malpractice claim. To allow this assignment would create the problems identified and feared by the Goodley court. If permitted, would anything prevent FORGIONE from assigning his assignment? To paraphrase Goodley, the assignment of such claims could relegate the insurance malpractice action to the market place and the highest bidder. This claim arose from a breach of trust and

confidence between the TOFELS and their agents who represented FIREMAN'S and STATE FARM. The relationship between the agents and the TOFELS was of a personal nature; the same as that between an attorney and client. The district court correctly dismissed the Second Amended Complaint.

II.

The attempt to lessen the significance of the relationship between the insurer and agent to the insured fails. An insurer or agent provides a personal service to the prospective insured. In return, the prospective insured places his trust in the insurer and/or agent to satisfy his needs. Here, the TOFELS relied upon their agents, FINE, CERRATO, and PIRTLE to meet their insurance needs.

When a broker agrees to obtain insurance for a client, the broker becomes the client's agent . Bennett v. Berk, 400 So.2d 484, 485 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); First National Ins. Agency v. Leesburg Transfer & Storage. Inc., 139 So.2d 476, 479 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962). Essentially, the relationship between the prospective insured and agent becomes that of principal and agent. Again, this is the same relationship existing between an attorney and client.

As evidenced by Appleman, Insurance Law & Practice Section 8841 (Rev. Ed. 1981), an insurance broker is the agent of the insured in negotiating for a

policy, and owes a duty to his principal to exercise reasonable skill, care, and diligence in effecting insurance. The agreement to act on behalf of the principal causes the agent to become a fiduciary with a duty to act primarily for the benefit of another (the insured/principal) in matters connected with his undertaking. The Restatement (Second) of Agency §1, 13. This was the relationship which existed in the instant matter and therefore any assignment of an alleged negligence claim against the agent/insurer by the insured was invalid.

III.

FORGIONE misapplies the decision in Aaron v. Allstate Ins. Co., 559 So.2d 275 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). In Aaron, the tortfeasor assigned her rights to a claim against her insurer for an improper or inadequate defense. The complaint alleged several causes of action against the insurer in causing the entry of an excess judgment. The insurer moved to dismiss asserting that Florida law prohibited the assignment of a legal malpractice claim. The court permitted the assignment stating the complaint alleged breach of contract, bad faith, negligence and fraud in causing the entry of the excess judgment. Those causes of action not based on a personal tort such as malpractice, may be assignable. Aaron at 277. The Aaron court relied upon the earlier holding of Selfridge v. Allstate Insurance

Co., 219 So.2d 127 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969) in making its decision

In Selfridge, the issue was whether an insured's cause of action against his liability insurer for the alleged negligent failure to settle within policy limits was assignable. The Selfridge court recognized Florida's adherence to the common law proscription against the assignability of personal injury claims. In permitting the assignment, the court concluded that the cause of action was not based on a personal tort. Selfridge at 129.

FORGIONE asserts that since Florida law permits the assignment of causes of action for the recovery of excess judgments when an insurer allegedly acts in bad faith, that the subject assignment should be permitted. To the contrary, the assignment of causes of action for the recovery of excess judgments due to the alleged bad faith of an insurer are of a contractual nature, McNulty, 221 So.2d at 210. The McNulty court stated:

It follows that the cause of action for an "excess," where one arises from bad faith, is bottomed on the contract, and that the nature of an action thereon is excontractu rather than in tort. The fact that the proofs offered to establish an insurer's bad faith in this connection may include or consist of showing; an act of negligence will not take the cause of action out of the contract category.

Id. (Emphasis added).

The McNulty holding is in keeping with the Selfridge decision. Selfridge permitted the assignment of a cause of action against an insurer for its alleged negligent failure to settle within policy limits. This is nothing more than a cause of action for bad faith arising from a contractual duty, rather than in tort. Whether the claim is couched in terms of negligence or bad faith, the cause of action arises from an alleged breach of an insurance contract which is assignable pursuant to Florida law.

IV.

Essentially, FORGIONE's claims against FIREMAN'S and STATE FARM are identical. These claims were based upon FIREMAN'S and STATE FARM's alleged vicarious liability for the negligence of the TOFELS's insurance agents, FINE, CERRATO, and PIRTLE; not upon contract or statute. FORGIONE seeks the opportunity to file a Third Amended Complaint sounding in breach of contract. This issue is not before the Court and does not involve Florida law.